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Counterclaim Respondent

THE PHILADELPHIA UNION’S REPLY TO
CLAIMANT’S POST-HEARING BRIEF

Respondent/Counterclaim Claimant, Pennsylvania Professional Soccer LLC (hereinafter,
the “Philadelphia Union”) and Respondent, Keystone Sports and Entertainment LLC
(hereinafter, “Ke_y_stmm”)'I (the Philadelphia Union and Keystone will hereinafter collectively be
referred to as “Respondent”), by and through their attorneys, Buchanan Ingersoll & Rooney PC,
hereby submit the following Reply to Claimant’s Post-Hearing Brief,

BUCHANAN INGERSOQLL & ROONEY PC

By: /s/Thomas .G, Collins .
Thomas G. Collins, Esquire
PA IDNo; 75896
Anthony F. Andrisano, Jt., Bsquire
PA ID No, 201231,
409N, Second Street; Suite 500
Harrisburg, PA 17101
Phone: (717) 237-4800
Fax: (717) 2330852
E: thomas.collins@bipe.com
) E: -anthony,andrisano@bipc.com
Dated: December23, 2014 Attorneys for Philadelphia Uniow:

YOf note, Claimant hagincluded Keys'tone Sports and Entertalament LLC as-a Respondent; Claimant, however, was
ciiployed at all timies by Peimsylvania Professional Soccer LLC-and not Keystone Sports and Entertafnmett LL.C.
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In the interests of jidicial economy, the Phiiladelphia Union will not reiterate the facts as
presented in its nitial Post-Hearing Brief and/or within its factually supported Proposed
Statement of Undisputed Material Facts, It will, however, address several factually nn_suppmted
and misleading statements made within Claimant’s Post-Heating Brief. For consistency
purposes, the Philadelphia Union will addtess each such statement in the order in which it was

presented within Claimarit’s Post-Hearing Brief,

Within his Post-Hearing Brief, Claimant states that the “heart of the basis for Mr.
Nowak’s termination for ‘cause’ are the conterits of a putative MLS Investigation Report dated
June 12, 2012 (the “MLS Report”). .[ylet no one provided [Claimant] with a copy of the ML$
Report prior to his termination meeting,..” (Claimant’s Post-Hearing Brief, pg. 11) (émphasis
added) Claimant correotly notes in this regard that his conduct was aptly described in the MLS
Report (the “gontents” referred to by Claimant) and that such conduet served as a‘basis for the
Philadélphia Union exercising its disorétionary right to terminate the June 1, 2009 Manager
Employment Agieement (the “Employment Agteement”). The statement is, however, otherwise
misleading in several material respects.

First, Claimant appears to suggest by inferece tliat because a.copy of the confidential
MLS Report was not shared with him, that he was somehow unaware of the allegations against
him, Claimant’s prerise in this regatd is flawed in at least two respects, Initially, Claimant was
an.active participant in the conduet described in the MLS Report. Respectfully, Claimant was
well aware of the natire of his miseonduct given his active involvement in the maiters

precipitating his‘termination, Additionally, and as discussed:more fully below, Claimant was

{
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advised in fact by email of the allegations agaist him prior to his termination. Such email, as
well as the Termination Letter provided to Claithant, mirrored the charges set forth in the MLS
Report in detail. Again, respectfully, Claimant was well aware of the allegations against him
priot to the tetmination meeting with Mr. Debusschere and Mr. Sakiewicz.

Second, Claimant’s statement infers that the only reason for the termination of the
Employment Agreement was the “contents” of the MLS Report. To the contrary, Claimant was
tcmﬁnate;d because of his conduct, which was accutately described in the MLS Report, It was

the conduct itself, however, that brought about his termination — not the fact that it was described

in the MLS Report. In short, Claimant aftempts to side-step the fact that he actually engaged in
the misconduet alleged in the MLS Report.

Third, as noted in the Termination Letter and-ouflined in great detail within the
Philadelphia Union’s Post-Hearing Brief, the “contents” of the MLS Report were not the sole
basis for the Philadelphia Union exercising its discretionary right to terminate the Employment
Agreement. To the contrary, thete were several good faith reasons for the Philadelphia Union to
exercise its diseretionaty right to terminate the Etiployment Agreement separate and
independent of the MLS Report,

As it relates to the MLS Report, Claimant also argues that he was “prejudiced,” and, in
fact, that an “adverse inference should be drawn against [the Philadelphia Union],” because the
players interviewed by the League, as detailed within the MLS Report, were never identified.”
As aresult, Claimant argues that he was “denied the -ability to cross examine those who accused

him.” (Claimant’s Post-Heating Brief, pgs, 11-12.) Simply put, this thinly veiled “due process™

?‘»’1?.(‘) reiterate, as the players of the Bhiladelphia Union were “extremely afraid” of the potential “conscquerices™ or
“petaliation” if it became known that they participated in the League’s investigation; the MLSPU asked the League
to-puta Confidentiality Agreement in place. (SMF § 174.) .As a result, the identity of the specific players providing

the {nformation resulting in the MLS Report hasnever been disclosed to Claimant or the Philadelphia Union.
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argument is specious at best. As a starting point, Claimant is intimately familiar with every
player that was on the Philadelphia Union’s roster at the time it which the primary events
contained within the MLS Report ocoursed. Most importantly, Claimant is aware of each of the
players that were presént during the May 31, 2012 trail run,® With this information, Claimant
could have easily “oross examined” those who “accused him” by simply schéduling the
depositions of each of these players during the discovery stago of the instant litigation.*
Claimant also could have called these players duting the 5-days of Hearing in this matter, By
taking either of these actions, Claimant could have “cross examined” those who “accused him”
while, at the same time, respecting the players MLSPU rights. What is relevant in this regard is
what in fact occutred — not who the players may have registered complaints with as to the
circumstances of the trail run, the interference, efc. Claimant, however, chose not to take either
of these reasonable anél, to be frank, expected aciions,

Additionally, the witness list submitted by the Philadelphia Union prior to the Hearing
listed BUMIEOS playess the Philadelphia Union intended to call as witnesses during thie Hearing,
Claimant could have very easily cross-examined each of these players duting the Hearing.
However, Claimant — aﬁer hearing the testimony of—, the first witnesy called by the

Philadelphia Union to testify rélative to the May 31, 2012 trail run - unilatérally offered to

stipulate thiat all pl

enough to immediately reitetate — Claimant. by his own initiative, prop osed that the parties

* During discovery, Clalmant was also given a list of eachrand every player thatplayed for the Philadelphia Union
during the 2012 season. (Respondent Exhibit 60.) ) }

* It is worth noting that there were only approximately 18 rosfered players at the time of the May 31, 2012 trail tun—
all'of which were identified as witnesses by Respondent during the discovery phase of the insfant litigation,
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parties — with the concurrence of the Arbitrator —agreed to this stipulation. Respectfully,
Claimant likely sought this stipulation-to avoid additional, duplicative and further damning
testimony. The events of May 31% were accurately described by Mr. (lBand the other
witnesses in this regard, and fairly detailed in the MLS Report, Claimant can not escape the hard.
facts which are not reasonably in dispute with respect to the circumstances of the run.

To that end, not only did Claimant fail to even attempt to “cross-examine” the players —
the players he absolutely knew wete on the team during the time period relevant to the MLS
Report - during discovery, but he also limited — through a stipulation he initiated — his ability to.
cross examine the players the Philadelphia Union intended to call, With the foregoing known,
any limit on the ability of Claimant “to cross examine those who accused him” was a result of
Claimant’s own actions or inactions and, thus, Claimant’s “due process” argument is absolutely
meritless and must fail,

B.  The Philadelphia Union’s ]

*

Within his Post-Hearing Brief, Claimant mischaracterizes the record evidence as it relates.
to the investigations performed by the Philadelphia Union relative to: (1) Claimant’s interfererice
with the playets’ rights to contact the MLSPU; and (2) Claimiant’s actions during-the‘May 31,
2012 trail run, Foremost, as it relates to the MUSPU interference, Claimant makes he following
statement within his Post-Heating Brief:

Mz, Sakiewioz testified that he veceived a phone call from MES on May
24, 2012 regarditig the alleged interference by [Claimant] between the
players and the [MLSPU] but lie did not begin an investigation.
(Ciaimant’s Post-Hearing Brief, pg. 12) (enipliasis added.)
This statement is simply untrue and certainly not supported by the portion of the Hearing

‘Transeript eited by Claimant. Indeed, in support of his proposition that Mr, Saklewicz never
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performed an investigation into the MLSPU interference issue, Claimant cites toipages 887-888
of the Hearing Transcript. This portion of the Hearing Transcript only confirms that Mt.
Sakiewicz received a phoné call from the League on May 24, 2012; it does not address whether
Mr. Sakiewicz performed an investigation into the MLSPU interference issue, Moreover, in.
" making this statement, Claimant ignores the following testimony in which Mr, Sakiewicz
discusses the actions he took following his receipt of the May 24, 2012 phone call from the
League:
Q.  Now, with respect to the first call-that you got that-you described getting
earlier about the putative intetference of [Claimant], did you call
{Claimant] in-and ask him what that was all about?
A.  Yes. Icalled [Claimant] right after I hung up the phone with [Mr; Durbin]
and I told him that we were under investigation for allegations against
managerient telling the players not to contact their player representatives
atthe [MLSPU].
Q. And what was {Claimant’s] response?
A. ..it was along discussion...[Claimant] had expressed to me that there
was a player who filed a grievance. He was pretty upset about it. He was
determined to find out who that player would be.
1 told [Claimant] this was not good. I'told [Claimant] that we can't stand
between the [MLSPU] and the players, Having been a player myself and
part of the [MLSPU], 1 knew that that was sacrosanct.
(Hearing Trans,, 889:4-24; SMF { 60.)
Accordingly, contrary to Claimant’s assertion, upon receipt of the MLSPU intérference
allegations from the League, Mr, Sakiewicz did perform an investigation, specifically contacting:
Claimand. to discuss the allegations made against him., During this conversation, Claimant

admitted to the inferference allegations and, asa result, no further investigation was required

pending the finidings of the MLS on the point,
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Furthermore, Claimant, within his Post-Hearing Brief, also states that Mr. Sakiewicz “did
not order any kind of an investigation” on May 31, 2012, when he learned of the actions taken by
Claimant during the trail run that day, Rather, according to Claimant, Mr, Sakiewicz waited
until June 6, 2012 to begin his investigation into Claitant's actions. (Claimant’s Post-Heating
Brief, pg. 12.) This statement is, to put it mildly, disingenuous. Indeed, as outlined within the
Philadelphia Union’s Proposed Statement of Matetial Facts and within the Philadelphia Union’s
Post-Hearing Brief, it is indisputable that Mr, Sakiewicz, upon learning of Claimant’s actions on
May 31, 2012, immediately began an investigation into Claimant’s actions duting the May 31¥
trail run.® (SMF 99 201-217; Philadelphia Union’s Post Hearing Brief, pgs. 28-31.)

In addition to misunderstanding the record evidence as it relates to the “timing” of the
investigation,(’ Claimant’s chatacterization of Mr. Sakiewicz’s investigation as “shameful” is
appalling given the circumstances. Indeed, even if, contrary to the clear record evidence,
Claimant was able to establish or point to deficiencies within the investigation performed by Mz,

Sakiewicz, it does not remedy the fact that Claimant actually engaged in the conduct that resulted

in the tetmination of the Employment Agreement. As explained within the Philadelphia Union’s

Post-Hearing Brief, Claimant, through his testimony, either admitted to the conduct léading to
the termination of the Employment Agrecment (e.g., refusing hydration to the playets, foroing
injured players to participate in the trail run, efe.) or the record evidence — proven mostly through

independent witnesses — establishes that Claimant engaged in the conduct leading fo.the

¥ Again, in the interests of judicial economy, the Philadelphia Union will not reiterate the facts/arguments presented
within its Proposed Statement of Material Facts and/or its Post-Hearing Brief} rather, it will incorporate the same
herein by reference. ‘ ‘

6 1t is also worth nofing that Claimast cités to page 892 of the Hearing Transcript to substantiate his assertion that
“[11Jo-6vidence of any harm, injury or physical impact of the training incident is present anywhere,” (Claimant’s
Post-Hearing Brief, pg. 13.) Page 892 of the Hearing T ransoript provides absolutely no support for this statement.
In addition, such a statement ignores the record evidence, (SMF ff 144-149; also see Argument Section of the
‘Phifadelphia Union’s Post-Hearing Brief.)

6
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termination of the Employment Agreement (e.g. MLSPU interference/retaliation, engaging in

discussions with other professional soccer teams, inappropriate treatment of concussions, efc.).
Simply put, even if we were to assume, arguendo, that Claimant could point to certain

deficiéncies relative to Mr. Sakiewicz’s investigation — a fact simply unsupported by the record

Claimant actually engaged in the conduct

evidence — the fact of the matter is that, again,
resulting in the termination of the Employment Agrecment, Claimant’s arguments here are
intended simply-to distract from the real issue at hand — did Claimant in fact engage in the
conduct described in the MLS Report, the email to Claimant the morning of his termination and
in the Termination Letter? The testimony elicited at the Hearing leads to only one conclusion in
this regard — a resounding “yes.”

C‘

Claimant’s Post-Hearing Brief also mischaracterizes the “Termination Meeting” that
occurred on June 13, 2012, Foremost, contrary to Claimant’s assertions, the emails and phone
calls he received on June 13, 2012 were not the fitst time he was notified that the League was
conducting an investigation info his conduct. (See Claimant’s Post-Hearing Brief, pgs. 15.)
Indeed, as noted above, immediately after teceiving the phone call from the League concerning
Clajmant’s inferfering with the players rights to contact the MLSPU, M. Sakiewicz contacted
Claimant and adyised him of the complaini made against him by the MUSPU and the fact that
the League was conducting an investigation fnto such allegations, (Hearing Trans,, 889:4-24;
SMF 60

Additionally, and most impoxtantly, Claimant’s Post-Hearing Brief incotrectly asserts
that Claimant was not given the “opportunity to respond to the allegations set forth in the e-mail

calling him to the termination meeting or the termination letter presented to him at the meeting
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which reiterated these points...” (Claimant’s Post-Hearing Brief, pgs. 15.) Although the theme

of this statement is reiterated throughout Claimant’s Post-Hearing Brief, it is simply not
g y

supporfed by and, in fact, conteadicts the record evidence. To illustrate, Claimant’s deposition

testimony is exfremely relevant in this regard and contrary to his arguments in the Post-Hearing

Brlef, During his deposition, Claimant testified as follows:

Q.

A
Q.
A

Ts this the [Termination] letter you were provided?

~ Yes...

How were you provided it? Hand Delivery?

They asked mie to come to the office.,.1 received several e-mails and phone calls
from fthe secretary of Mr, Sakiewicz asking me to come to the office as soonas |

And Ireceived the e-mail that was - - it was not the report, but it was the other e-
mail just basically saying you did that, you did that, you did that, Please come, It
is urgent matter that we have to discuss. And you have to come fo the office to
get - ~ to have the diseussions.

And I knew from that moment I received the e-mail that I am going to be

terminated. T didn’t kmow the reasons. [ read thie reasons in the e-mail, but I
tried mavbe to find out a little bit more about what the texmination is goin
to be all about...

What do yourecall asto what they told.you as to the basis for the termination?

Mr. Sakiewicz said that we Jigy
e-mail, And so Isaid: What is

don’t think it is - = all is false becas

(Respondent Exhibit 64/Plaintiff’s Deposition Transeript, 200:22-202:13) (emphasis added.)

Simply pitt, Claimant’s deposition testimony confirms that he was not.only given the

opportunity to respond to the allegations surrounding the termination of the Employment

Agreement, but such testimony confirms that Claimant did in fact respond to the reasons ~
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specifically stating that such reasons wete “false because [he] didn’t do anything wrong.” This is
another point worth immediately reiterating — notwithstanding Claimant’s testimony during the
Hearing, Claimant’s deposition testimony not only confirms that Claimant was given notice of
the reasons surrounding the termination of the Employment Agreement, but he was also given
the opportunity and in fact responded i:o those reasons. Respondent wasmot obligated to accept |
Claimant’s simple rejection of the allegations against him in the face of the compelling contrary
evidence.

It is worth reiteratitig hete that Claimant’s deposition testimony on this point corroborates
the Hearing testimony given by Mr. Sakiewicz.and Mr. Debusschere. (SMF 19 327-328;
Hedring Transcfipt, 76:13-77:9.) More specifically, both M. Sakiewicz and Mr. Debusschere
testified at the Hearing that Claimant responded to the reasons surrounding the termination of the
Employment Agreement by denying them ~ stating that they were “bullshit,”’ (SMF 1§ 327-328;
Hearing Transcript, 76:13-77:9.) Simply put, Claimant did not have an adequate response
because he in fact en aged in the conduct alleged.

Claimant also argues that the Philadelphia Union, through M. Sakiewicz, made the
decision to exercise its:discretionary right to terminate the Employment Agreement prior to the
June 13, 2012 mesting and that this somehow supports the argument that Claimant was not given
‘the oppottunity to tespond. This argument s, at best, again, a red herring, First, evenif true, the
specific language of the Employment Agreement actually contemplates that the decision to
termithate the Employment Agteement will be-made “ptior to” notice and an opportunity to

respond is given. Tndeed, to reiterate, Paragraph II(C) provides, in pertinent patt:

7 Clairant’s Posi-Hedring Briofalso notes that the-June 13, 2012 meeting lasted 25-30 minutes, {Claimant’s Post
Heating Submission, pg, 15.) Given this amount of time, it would be nonsensical to think that documents were.
simply handed-to Clainiant without discussion or that Claimant was asked to leave after he received the documents.
Again, further supporting the fact that Claimant was clearly given an opportunity to respond during the June 13,
2012 meeting. ' '

9
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Whether Club has terminated this Agreement pursuant to Paragraph [I(A)
ot (B) shall be determined in good faith by [the Philadelphia Union)] at its
reasonable discretion; provided that (i) prior to terminating Manager
pursuant to Paragraph ITI(A), {the Philadelphia Union] shall specify in
reasonable detail the reasons Manager is being so terminated and give
Manager an opportunity to respond thereto...

(SMF { 15) (cmphasis added.)

How-could the Philadelpliia Union specify the “reasons” Claimant was “being so
terminated” if the decision to terminate the-Employment Agreement had yet to be made? The
ariswer is obvious, a;x.d, more importantly, whether or not the Philadelphia Union made the
decision to terminate the Employment Agreement priot to the June 13, 2012 meeting is
immaterial, Contractuaily, the Phiiadé.lphia Union was clearly free to decide in advance of the
meeting thiat Claimant would be terminated. The Employment Agreement cleatly contemplates
the reasons for termination, and (3) Claimant’s opportunity to réspond.)

The material question is whether the Pliilada‘lphiavUrﬁon gave Claimant notice and an
opportunity to respond before it actually terminated the Employment Agreement. Here, these
prerequisites were met without question. Again, the record evidence in this matter indisputably
esfablishes that the Philadelphia Unjon did not actually terminate the Employment Agreement
until: (1) affer it provided Claimant with wiitten notice via email of the reasons surrounding the
termiiation of the Employment Agreement; (2) after it provided Claimant the Termination Letter
and the opportuinity to respond during Claimant’s eeting with Mr, Sakiewicz and Mr.
Debusschere; and (3) as noted above, affer Claimant actually responded to the reasons provided.

To that end, evén if the decision to terminate the Employment Agreemont was made prior
to the June.13, 2012 meeting, it is irrelevant because the Philadelphia Union complied with the

plain language of the Employment Agreemenit in all aspects,

10
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In the interests of judicial economy, the Philadelphia Union also will not reitetate each of
fhe atguments it presented within its Post-Hearing Brief, It will, however, respond to several of
the arguments made within Claimant’s Post-Heating Brief, For consistency puiposes, each such
argument will be addréssed in the order in which it was presented within Claimant’s Post-
Hearing Brief.

A,

‘Within his Post-Hearing Brief, Claimant argues that the Philadelphia Union bredched the
Employment Agreement by failing to provide Claimant with notice of the reasons surrounding
the termination of the Bmployment Agreement and by failing to provide him with the
opportunity to respotid to suchi reasons. As noted above and within the Post;%Ieé:cing Brief
submitted by the Philadelphia Union, the record evidence indisputably establishes that Claimant
was not only provided with notice and an opportunity to respond to-the reasons surrounding the
texmination of the Employment Agreement, but that Claimant in fact discussed and responded to
those reasons prior to the Philadelphia Union exercising its discretionary tight to terminate the
Employment Agreement. The Philadelphia Union notes that Claimant’s arguments hiere are
procedural in nature ~Claimant does not-appear to challenge the alleged conduct precipitating
histermination, Simply put,he had no good excuse or explané.tion to provide — he-wasy
however, afforded the oppor_t‘linity 10 do so.

Foremost, as it relates to notice, Claimant argues the lack of notice within his Post-
Heariug,Bﬁeﬂ ‘but — ot sutprisingly — he spends little time on the issue. Ttis rather clear from.

the fecord evidence that Claimant received an.cmail as well ‘as the Termination Letter on Junie

11
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13,2012, In this regard, both the email and the Termination Letter specify in “reasonable detail”
fhe reasons surrounding the Philadelphia Usion’s decision to exercise its discretionary right to
ferminate the Bniployment Agreement, Indeed, even a.cursory review of the email-and the
Termination Letter illustrates that Claimant was made fully aware of the exact reasons for the
termination of the Employment Agreement, Accbr‘disagl‘y, there is absolutely no question that the
Phitadelphia Unioni provided the notice ~ the “reasonable detail” — required in _Paragrath(C) of
the Employnienit Agreement, |
As for the opportunity to respond, Claimant’s Post-Hearing Brief contains several

unsupported assertions, but one-stands out in particular. In this regard, Claimant’s Post-Hearing
Brief presents the following argument;

Mr, Sakiewioz attempted to take the position that [Claimant] had the

opportunity to respond duting this termination meeting, but this testimony

didnot ring trae, Mr. Debusschere testified that he did not recall

[Claimanit’s] specific words but stated that [Claimant] denied and

deﬂected._(;citations omitted.) [Claimant's] testimony, however, was both
clear and credible.

(Claimant’s Post-Hearing Submission, pg. 21) (empbasis added.)
Claimant’s Post Hearing Brief thet goes on to cite to sevetal pages of Hearing testimony in
which Claimant specifically deniies discussing any of the issues contained within the email
and/or Termination Letter.

Theniteresting note hete is that the. purported “clear and credible” Héaring testimony of
Claimant conflicts directly with the testimony Claimant gave durifig his deposition, which, in
pertinent part, was as follows:

Q.  What do you recall as to what they told you as to the basis for the termination [at
the June 13, 2012 meéting]?

12




Case 2:12-cv-04165-MAK Document 45-6 Filed 01/05/16 Page 16 of 32

A. M Sakiewicy swid thot we have fo let you go for the reason that we stated in the
e-mail, And so Isaid: What is this all about? Youﬂbelteve wlmt oit wrote? T
don’t think it is - - all is fulse because I didn’t

(Respondent Exhibit 64/Plaintiff’ s Deposition Transeript, 200:22-202:13) (emphasis added.)

Simply put, Claimant’s testimony -d‘uring his deposition contradicts his alleged “clear and
credible” Hearing Testimony and, more importantly, confirms that he was not only given the
opportunity to respond to the reasons surrounding the termination of the Employment
Agreement, but that he in faet'xe’spdﬁded'tc the identified reasons —specifically stating that such
reasons were “false because [he] didn’t do anything wrong,”

Within his Post-Hearing Brief, Clalmant eventually admits that, “from a technical
standpoint,” Claimant “could be said to have had an. opportunity to respond.”® (Claimant’s Post-
Hearing Brief, pg, 23.). Ht'n;vev‘t_.sr, Clatinant then argues that such an opportunity to respond was
not “meaningful,” as Claimant did not have “a chance to absorb the chatges and develop cogent
responses to the allegations made againsthim.” (Claimant’s Post-Hearing Brief, pg. 23,) This
argument fails for several reasons. First, the Broployment Agreemient only requires the
Philadelphia Union to provide an oppoitunity to respond.” Here, the email was provided to
Claimant in advance of the meeting with Mr. Sakiewicz and Mr. Debusschere. Claimant had
time to digest the allegations-in the-email and respond during the meeting later that morning with
Mz, Sakiewioz and Mr, Debusséheré — he sitply had no good response because the allegations
were all true,

Additionally, even if we assume, arguendo, that the Philadelphia Union was required to

give Claimant a.more meaningful opportunity to respond, it would have been absolutely pointless

g Claimant oniy makes tlzis slatement tefative to the “allegations set foith [by thie Philadelphia Union] in the [June
13, 2012] email ? (Cialmant’s Post-Hearing Brief, pg, 23.)

% To reiterate, af the time the Parties negotiated. and agreed to the terms of the Employment Agreement, Claitant

‘was representéd by counsel, (SMF { 8.).
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under the circumstances to give, Ias Claimant argues, additional time “to absorb the charges and
develop cogent responses to the allgations made against him.” Indeed, even if Claimant was
given all the time in the wotld to “absorb” the charges made against him, it would not change the
fact that Claimant would have been uniable to truthfully deny that he engaged in the' conduct that

this day, Claimant has no cogent

resulted in the termination of the Employmient Agreement, To
response to the allegations againist him, Frankly, the allegations are true and were cleatly
established factually at the Hearing, As explaitied above as well as within the Philadelphia
Union’s Post-Hearing Brief, Claimant either admitted to the conduet leading to the termination
of the Employment Agreement (e.g., refusing hydration to the playets, forcing injured players to
participate in the trail run, efc.) or the record evidence ~ proven mostly through independent
witnesses —establishes that Claimant engaged in the conduct leading to'the termination of the
Employment Agreement (¢.g. MLSPU interference/retaliation, engaging in discussions with
other professional soccer teams, inappropriate {reatment of condtissions, ef¢,). Under these
ciroumstances, the amount of time given to Claimant to “absorb” the charges against him is
essentially inconsequential ~ form over substance, as.it would not have changed the fact that
Claimant’s response should have been —~ “L did it.”

To that end, the record evidénce indisputably establishes thatClaimant was notonly
provided with notics and the appropriate contractual opportunity to tespond fo the reasons
surrounding the termination of the Employment Agreement, but that Claimant in fact discussed
and responded to those reasons prior to the Philadelphia Union exeroising its discretionary right
to terminate the Employment Agteement, The Philadelphia Union cleatly satisfied its

contractual obligations on the issues of both notice and opportunity to respond.
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Claimant also argues in his Post-Hearing Brief that the Philadelphia Union acted in “bad
faith” when it exercised its discretionary right to terminate the Employment Agreemient, Within
its Post-Heating Brief, the Philadelphia Union outlined in significant detail the “good faith”
bases — which were numerous — for its decision to exercise its vight to terminate the Employment
Agreement, Although the Philadelphia Union still relies upon the same, it is important to
reiterate a few points in response fo the arguments presented by Claimant within his Post-
Hearing Submission.

First, it must be reiterated that, pursuant to the express terms of the Employment
Agreement, the Partics agreed to give the Philadelphia Union the sole discretion to terminate the
Employment Agreement if the Philadelphia Union: (1) determines — in its reasoitable.discrefion
—that Claimant engaged m any of the conduct delineated in Patagraph TII(A) of the Employment
Agreement; and/or (2) if it determines, #n ¥is good faith discretion, that Claimant made a
statement or engaged in “conduct, .. that is materially prejudicial to the interests of the League or
the Team or materially detrimental to the public image and/or reputation of the League, the:
[Philadelphia Union] and/ot the game of soccer.” (SMF § 13-16:) To put it another way, the
Patties, through their respective counsel, negotiated and agreed to provide the Philadelphiia
Union with the ability to terminate the Employment Agreement if it had a.good faith basis to
conclude that Claimant engaged in the conduct delineated in Paragraph 1(C) (_5/) ‘or Paragraph-
ITI(A) of the Bmployment Agteerent.

At a minimum, the arguments presented within the Philadelphia Union’s Post-Heating
Brief illustrate that the Philadelphia Union exercised its discretion 't'(;).“feﬁﬁﬁiate the Empioyment

Agreoment in good faith. Although thiis should be obvious under the citoumstances, the actions
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of the two controlling entities in professional soccer — the League and MLSPU — further confirm
this point. In fact, based upon the actions of both the League and the MLSPU, the Philadelphia
Union not only had a good faith basis, but arguably was left with no choice but to exercise ifs
discretionary right to terminate the Employment Agreement. To reiterate, the MLSPU
independently — without input from the management of the Philadelphia Union — learned of the
actions taken by Claimant relative fo the players and immediately contacted the. League,

ultimately informing the League; for the first time in ifs existence, that it would consider striking

— withholding its players from the Philadelphia Union ~ if Claimant was not removed asthe
Manager of the Philadelphia Union. Additionally, based upon the information it obtainéd from

the MLSPU - not from the mana sement of the Philadelphia Union — the League initiated an

independent investigation into Claimant, ultimately determining that Claimant engaged in
reprehensible conduct relative to the playets and that such conduct warranted the termination of
Claimant as the Manager of the Philadelphia Union. Significantly, aftlar conducting its ‘
investigation and understanding the position of the MLSPU, the League issued a directive to the

Philadelphia Union ~ explicitly informing the Philadel hia Union that Claimant was prohibited

from having any further contact with the players,'®

The League’s position relative to Claimant’s actions ~as Wel‘l~a§ the position of the
MLSPU - illustrates, af the very least, that the Philadelphia Union had a go od faith basis to
exeroise its discretion and terminate the Employment Agreement, Tndeed; the League.and the
MLSPU — again, the two primary entitiés controlling the business of professional soccer in the
United States — not only believed that Claimant’s actions were significant enough to Waﬁagt‘fhe‘

termination of the Employment Agreement, but, again, they both actually took positions that left

0 Again, the players are employed by the Ledgue and not the Philadelphia Union..
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the Philadelphia Union with little choice, but to exercise its discretionary right to terminate the
Employment Agreement. |
Within his Post-Hearing Brief, Claimant attempts to attack the breadth of the
investigation performed by the League as well as the investigation performed by the Philadélphia
Union — the investigations ultimately resulting in the Philadelphia Union exercising its
discretionaty tight to terminate the Employment Agreement, In particular, Claimant argues that
the failure of the League to interview him and the failure of the Philadelphiia Union to “insist”
upon the League interviewing him is illustrative of the Philadelphia Union failing to act in good

faith. Such an argument is absolutely unavailing, Foremost, this argument ignores the fact that

Claimant was interviewcd_conccmin > the allegations-against him during the June 13,2012

termination meeting and before the Philadelphia Union actually exetcised its discretionary right

to terminate the Employment Agreement, It also ignores the fact that the investigations

performed by the League and the Philadelphia Union not only came to'the same conglusion (as
did the investigation performed by the MLSPU), but both investigations also ascertained the

truth, To teiterate once again, the record evidence in this matter establishes without question that

the Claimant actually engaged in the conduct that resulted in the termination of the Employment

Agreoinent, In other words, even if the breadth of the investigations was lax — a fact

unsupported by the.record evidence — there was absolutely no prejudice to Claimant because he
in fact engaged in the.conduct alleged. To the contrary, the investigations conclusively
uncovered the truth — that Claimant engaged in conduct providing the Philadelphia Union with
the basis to exercise its diseretionary right to terminate the Employment Agreement. The alleged.
conduct in fact.ocourred. Accordingly, it is undeniable that the investigation performed info the

actions taken by Claimatit were, at the very least, petformed in good faith,
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Claimant’s arguments, at best, are form over substance positions, Regardless of his
creative atterpts to muddy the waters on the point — the fact remains that the Philadelphia
Union established through ovérwhelming credible evidence at the Hearing in this matter that
Claimant engaged in the conduct alleged — conduct which ¢learly warranted his termination.

The factually similar case of Haywood v. University of Pitisburgh, 976 F.Supp.2d 606
(W.D. Pa. 2013), is rsle%/ant on this point. In Haywood, the parties entered into a contiact
wherein Mr, Haywood became the coach of the Univetsity’s football program. As is pertinent to
the instant litigation, Mr, Haywood, in executing the contract, agreed to give the University the
discretion to unilaterally terminate the contract should the University determine that Mr.
Haywood engaged in certain conduct enumerated within the contract. In other words, Mi.
‘Haywood agreed to termination language vety similar to the language agreed fo by the Parties
and contained within the Employment Agreement at issue in the instant litigation.

Afiter the University determined that Mr. Haywood engaged in the conduct prohibited by
the coniract, it exercised its discretionary right to terminate the contract, Mr, Haywood filed suit
‘alleging breach of contract and arguing, inter-alia, that the Untversity did not perform a good
faith investigation into Mr. Haywood’s conduct. Tn rejecting this argument, the Court held:

The University is correct that under the employment contract it had the
discretion under paragraph 14.1(F) to determine whether it had just cause
to fire Haywood. When a party has the discretion to act under a contract,
however, the fplied duty of good faith requires the party to réasonably
exercise that diseretion. The duty to act reasonably did not gverride the

University’s.right to terminate the employment conlract upon its
determination that Haywood's conduct fell within the ambits of [the
Termination Provision]...Likewise, the duty of good faith did not require
the University to take any specific action rior fo terminating tlie
employnient contract; rather, inherent in the University’s right to
determine whether just cause existed to terminate the employment contract
was the imiplied duty to act reasonably to make that determination,

Haywoad, 976 F.Supp.2d at 628.
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In short, the duty to act in good faith does not require the taking of atiy specific, non-
confractually obligated investigatory action, and, in the instant matter, the Employment
Agreement does not contractually require the Philadelphia Union to take any specific
investigatory action before exercising its right to terminate the Employment Agreement. The
only requirement is that the Philadelphia Uriion exercise its discretionaty right to terminate the
Employment in good-faith. As outlined above, the fact that the Philadelphia Union acted in good
faith in this regard is absolutely indisputable, The fact that Mr. Nowak engaged in the conduct
alleged is indisputable. Again, the two controlling entities of professional soccer in the United
States came to the same conclusion as the Philadelphia Union — that the actions of Claimant were
so reprebensible that he could no longer act as the coach of the Phi-lad'c}lphia Union,

C.  Climant’s Actions Were Not Curable.

Within his Post-Hearing Brief, Claimant also argues that the Philadelphia Union breached
the contract by not providing the Claimant with the ability to cure his conduet, The Philadelphia
Union®s Post-Hearing Brief outlines in great detail the reasons why Claimant’s conduct was
incurable and, in the inferests of judicial economy, the Philadelphia Union will not reiterate those
arguments herein, It is, however, worth pointing out that Claimant’s arguments solely rest upon
his unsubstantiated belief that his conduct can be cuted by simply stating that he will not do it
again. In other words, the-effect or repercussions of Claimant’s actions (e.g., the trading of &
player, the jeopardizing the health and safety of players, and actually exacerbating physical
iijuries by refusing to follow the advice of the athletic trainers) have absolutely 1o meaning if
Claimant simply promises not to take the same actions in the future. To accept Claimant’s
position in this regard would essentially eliminate. any olrcumstance in which an individual is

uitable to cure his ot her conduct —as soon as the individual promiises not to do it again, all is-
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forgiven and any harm magically disappears. Respectfully, this is an absurd position that finds no
basis inthe law and, to be frank, borders on ridiculousness. Claimant must live with the reality
and consequences of his actions.

Moreover, it is worth reiterating that the Employment Agreement expressly provides the
Philadelphia Union with the unilateral diseretion to determine in good faith whether Claimant’s
actions wers “not curable” and/ot whether Claimant’s “continued employment during a cute
period could be reasonably, ..expected fo result in material harm to the Club.” (SMF ] 15.)
Again, the Philadelphia Union already outlined its arguments relative to these points in its Post-
Hearing submission and it will not reiterate each of these arguments herein, It is; however,
worth sefterating that the positions of the League and the MLSPU relative to Claimant speak to
the fact that the Philadelphia Union engaged in * géo‘d faith” when it determined that Claimant’s
actions wete incurable and that Claimant’s continued employment during the cure period would

yesult in material harm. To reiterate, the League s ecifically directed the Philadelphia Union to

remove Claimant from the players and the MI.SPU actually threatened to strike should Claimant

remain as the coach of the Philadelphia Union. Undet these circumstanees, it is nonsensical to

even attempt o argue that the Philadelphia Union failed to make a good faith judgment when it
detetmined that Claimant’s.actions were incurable and that material harm would oceur if
Claimant continued to remain employed during a cure period, How could the Philadelphia
Uniion continue with Claimant when both MLS and the MLSPU had lost all confidence and trust
inhim? Se¢ Chirch v. Tentarelli, 2007 W1, 5479832 iPa.Com‘Pli Nov. 8, 2007) (where trust is
vital fo a contractual relationship, the loss of trust may be impossible to cure); LJL Transp,, Inc,
v. Pilot Air _Fi‘eight Corp. 905 A.2d 991 (Pa,Super,2006) (Trial court recoghized it as a case of '

firstimpression in Pennsylvania and cited cases from other jurisdictions which hold that some
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types of dishonest conduct are so egregious and of such a nature that the aggrieved party may
termiinate the coniract immediately even where a cure provision is specifically provided in the
contract); se¢, €.8 Southland Corp. v. Froelich, 41 F.Supp.2d 227 (E.DN.Y.1999) (franchiseo’s
scheme to hide revenue from the franchisor irrevocably damaged the relationship of the parties
permitting franchisor to tetminate contract without oppottunity to cure); Larken, Ine. v. Larken
Towa City Ltd. Partnership, 589 N.W.2d 700 (Towa 1998) (hotel owner had right to terminate
management agreement immediately despite notice and cute provisions, whete managet engaged
in self-dealings, which frustrated fundamental contract principles of fairness and honesty); see
also Leghorn v. Wieland, 289 So0.2d 745, 748 (Fla.Dist.Ct.App.1974) (actions of disloyalty and
dishonesty make it impossible for defaulting party to remedy the breach; where a breach cannot
be cured, “the giving of notice would be a useless gesture.”)

To that end, the “cure” arguments presented by Claimant within his Post-Hearing Brief
are meritless, The damage caused to the Philadelphia Union’s reputation and that of Claimant
with both MLS and the MLSPU was done and could not be reversed. No further investigation
would clear Claimant of his inappropriate conduct. The Philadelphia Union, accordingly,
appropriately exercised its discretion to deny Claimant the ability to cure his egregious conduct

in good falthand in compliance with the plain tanguage of the Etnployment Agreement.

Claimant’s Seeking of Other Emplot ment in Violation of the Employment
Agreement,

As noted throughout the instant Reply Brief, the Philadelphia Union will not simply
reiterate arguments already presented within its Post-Hearing Brief, The Philadelphia Union
will, however, address several issues raised within Claimant's Post-Hearing Brief. Foremost,
Claitmast ignotes the record evidence—namely the festimony of Mt. Messing and Mr. Morris —

when he argues that he did not “direct any. authoti‘z:éd'repres'entatiVe [to] have a discussion with
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another professionai soccer team on his behalf” (Claimant’s Post-Hearing Brief, pgs. 32-33.)
Both of these individuals — independent witnesses with absolutely no interest in the outcome of
the instant litigation — testified that Claimant in fact directed them to contact specific teams or
teams gbn_erally.’located in specific areas in an attempt to secure Claimant alternative
employment. Mr, Messing and Mr. Morris funther testified that they in fact contacted these other
teams to solicit their respective intetest in employing Claimant, In other words, Claimant not
Qn-ly directed both Mr, Messing _apd Mr, -Morri's to “engage in discussions with [] other
‘professional soccer teams,” ‘but Mr. Messing.and Morris in fact engaged in such discussions on
behalf of Claimant; (SMF ] 265-282.)

Simply put, it is absolutely clear that Claimant breached the Employment Agreement by
authorizing;regresentativ_cs to “ehgage in discussions with ] other professional soccer teams” —
one of these “professional soccet teams” happened to be U.S, Soccer, which is the entity that the
Philadelphia Union paid $75,000 to obtain the ability to hire Claimant.

Claimant also points out that Mr, Sugarman testified during his deposition-that
Claimant’s seeking of other employment was “not a major issue,” In making this argument, it is
cléar that Claimant1s grasping at straws. Mr. Sugarman simply stated that this was not a “major
issue”; he did not testify that it was not an issue at all. If anything, this statement speaks to how
outtageous Claimant’s other conduct was. Tndeed, in making this statement, Mr. Sugarman was
simply illustrating that Claimant’s other conduict— as outlined within the MLS -Répozt— was 80
reprehensible that it was, in his view, the primary reason for the termination of the Employment
Agreement. It does not mean that the other issues, including Claimant’s breaching of the
Emp_ioyment Agreement by seeking other employment, were not valid, matetial reasons

providing the Philadelphia Union'withra geod faith basis to exercise-its discretionary authority to
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terminate the Employment Agreement. To the contrary, it simply exemplifies the significance of
the other conduct.

To that end, the record ‘evidence establishes that Claimant breached the Employment
Agreement by engagiug in discussions with other professional soccer teams. Based upon the
foregoing arguments, as well as the arguments contained with the Philadelphia Union’s Post-
Hearing Brief, Claimant’s matetial breach in this regard clearly pr;wided aseparate and
independent good faith basfi"s‘ foi the Philadelphia Union to exercise its discretionary authority fo
terminate the Employment Agreement.

E. Claimant Still Does Not Acknowledge the Seriousness of His Actions.

Claimant’s Post-Hearing Submission does address his actions during the May 31, 2012
trail run, but it fails to overcome the significant argument presented within the Philadelphia
Uriion’§ Post-Heating Brief. Accordingly, the Philadelphia Unlon will rely vupon and incorporate
‘hercin the arguments presented in its Post-Heating Submission, Itis, however, worth addressing
the following statement made by Claimant relative to the May 31, 2012 trail run:
All of this lipsterie was an overreaction to an [sic] training exercise that.
happened to take place after an unsatisfactory performance during the
teany’s previous game. It is simply unacceptable to terminate [Claimant]
for ‘oauge’ based on the mere possibility of what could have happened but
did not.

(Claimant’s Post-Hearing Brief, pg. 41) (emphasis added.)

Claimant’s statementin this regard is relevant in several respects. First, it
illusteatos that Claimant — incredibly — still does not understand the sérlousniess.of his
actions. He still fails to grasp the simple fact that he: (1) jeopardized the health.and.
safety of players by forcing then fo patticipate-in unprecedented training activities

without hydration; (2) jﬁbpa;‘&iz__ed the health and safety of players by disregarding the
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advice of the head athletic trainer and forcing injured players to participate in the
unprecedented training activities; and @) j_copardi—zedthe health and safety of the players
by creating an aimosphere where the players felt thiey were requited to hide concussions
from the medical staff,

The fact that Claimant was lucky enough not tohave a playet “collapse” duting
the course of thie run is not the point;- The point — which has been made repeatedly by the
Philadelphia Union as well as the League and the MLSPU -~ is that Claimant placed the.
health and safety of the players at risk. Additionally, Claimant continues to ignore the
fact that the record evidence establishes that the injured players foreed to participate in
fhe trail run suffered setbacks, resulting in several players being unable to play for at least
6-days following the trail run. (SMF ] 144-149.)

Simply put, the fact that Claimant made this statement illustrates that he still does
not grasp the seriousness of his actions. Fortunately for the players, the Philadelphia
Union, MLS and the MLSPU all recognized the seriousness of Claimant’s actions on
May 31%, Tt further illustrates that it would have been poinitless to. give Claimant the
opportunity fo oure; Indeed, while Claimant may have said he would not have done it
again, the fact of the matter is that Claimant still doés not undetstand that his actions
weré inappropriate, Acmrdiﬁgly, it is absolutely indisputable that the Philadelphia Union
had a good faith basis to exercise its discretionary rightto terminate the Employment
Agreement and to determine that Claimant’s actions wete jricurable/that the continued

employment of Claimant during the cure period would have caused material hart..
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Claimant’s Post-Hearing submission does address the fact that he.interfered
with/retaliated against the players for exercising their rights to contact the MILSPU, but it fails to
overcome the significant argument presented by the Philadelphia Union within its Post-Hearing
Brief. Accordingly, the Philadelphia Union will rely upon and incorporateﬂherein the arguments
presented in its Post-Hearing Submission. Itis, however, worth noting that while the Claimant
cites to and attempts to discredit the testimony of the numerous witnesses confirming his
interference with the rights of the players to contact the MLSPU, he fails to cite to his own
Hearing Tc,stimony:

..So if any kind of issues will ocour, I told them basically that please, if
le have any kind of concerns, any issues. ,.just to tell them if you have
any kind of issues, please see us firs first so we will not have problems or

westions from the Players Union about any kind of concerns you
have or vou might have in the future,

(SMP 4 48) (emphasis added.)

Simply put, notwithstanding Claimant’s attempt to poke holes in the compelling
testimony of the other witniesses on this point, the fact of the matter is that Claimant admits to
interfering with the players MISPU rights - specifically félﬁng‘tﬁem to contact him before
contacting the MLSPU. I

it is also worth noting that Claimant does not address the record evidence relating to fact

that he sought the identity.of the player(s) who brought the (I issue to the MLSPU. Quite

n Interestingly euough Claimant’s testiniony i this regard conflicts with the testimony of lils lone witness, Diego
Guticirez (as vited by Claimant on pg, 47.0f Claimant’s Post:Hearing Brief). Ifnothing eIse, this-clearly calls the
credibility of Mr, Gutterrez and his testimony info question,

25




Case 2:12-cv-04165-MAK Document 45-6 Filed 01/05/16 Page 29 of 32

frankly, this is not surprising considering the record evidence in this regard is supported by three
players'? and the head of the MLSPU, Robert Foose. Nonetheless, it is worth mentioning here.
Finally, with respeet to the interference/retaliation issue, Claimant attempts to minimize
his actions in this regard by mischaracterizing the testimony of Mr. Durbin. Specifically,
Claimant argues that Mr. Durbin testified that “the interforence allegations did not raise ‘major
alarm bells.”” Simply put, M. Durbin never made. this statement, He simply stated that “major
alarm bells” went off when he was made aware of the actions Claimant took during the May 31;
2012 trail run, (SMF §170,) This is quite a differerice and the record in this regard clearly
speaks for itself, There is no question that the League took the players interference/retaliation
issue extremely seriously. Indeed, this issue was a major focal point within the MLS Report.

G. The Philadelp] hla Union Lawfully Terminated the Employment Agreement

Again, the Philadelphia Union will primarily rely upon the arguments presented in its
Post-Hearing Brief relative to-this particular issue, However, it must be noted that Claimant’s
compatison to the actions of others in the sport is immaterial to the contract Claimant executed
with the Philadelphia Union. Moreover, the fact that Claimant believes “[tJules and their
breaches are a part of professional sports” is also immaterial to the plain language of the
Employment Agreemetit executed between the Claimant and the Philadelphia Union..
(Claimant’s Post-Heating Submission, pg. 56.)

However, even if such assertions of fact were materiz;l, Claimant has failed to identify
any individual who engaged in the same or similar conduct as Claimant and was not relieved
from his or het position. For instance, Claimant has not identified another coach —in any

pmfesswnal spott, let alone in Major League Soccer— that pushed a player on. the opposing team

2 Mostiy M buta third player, Mr, | J confirmed, through his testiniony, that hie was
present at the i ecelved the phone call from Claithant, (SME 9 50
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— a push viewed on national television - and was not terminated from his or her position,
Claimant also has not identified another coach in any professional sport that engaged in any of
 the conduct outlined in the MLS Report — conduct clearly embarrassing/humiliating to the
Philadelphia Union in, at the very least, the eyes of the League and the MLSPU ~that was not
relieved from his or her duties. Without these comparators, Claimant’s argument relating to
“yules” being routinely breached in professional sports is nothing more'than conjecture and

certainly is not enough to establish bad faith on the part of the Philadelphia Union.

Inimant’s Alleged Bonus

s

Damages,

H.  There is No Record Evidence to Substantiate C

Claimant’s Post-Hearing Brief outlines, for the first time, that Claimant is making a claim
for a borus that he is allegedly entitled to as a result of his selection as the Coach of the League’s
2012 All-Star game. Theére is absolutely nothing in the closed récord evidence to establish that
Claimant is entitled to this bonus and, thus, it must be denied as a mattet of law:

ml

COUNTERCLAIMS
Claimant acknowledges that he has failed to make payments on the Loan and/or the
Advance since the termination of this Employment Agreement on Jurie 13, 2012 Nogxethéless,
he maintains that he is not subject to the interest simply because his failure to pay the Loan or the
Advance was a “consequential damage” of the Philadelphia Union’s alleged breach of the
Employme;_zt Agreement, Not surprisingly, Clalmant fails to oite to.any legal authority to
support this proposition. The Loan and especially the Advance are debts Claimant owed distinet.
from the Employment Agreement. Accordingly, the actions of the Philadelphia Union relative to
the Employment Agreement are jrrelevant to the fact that Claimant owes the Loan, the Advance

as well as the interests, costs and fées associated with the collection of the same.
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To that end, Claimant owes the Philadelphia Union the principle amounts of the Loan and.
Advance as well as interest, costs and fees associated with the collection of the same,
Respectfully submitted,
BUCHANAN INGERSOLL & ROONEY PC

By: /s/ Thomas G. Collins .
Thomas G. Collins, Esquire
PA 1D No. 75896
Anthony F. Andrisano, Jr., Esquire
PA ID No. 201231
409 N, Second Street, Suite 500
Harrisburg, PA 17101
Phone: (717) 237-4800
Fax: (717) 233-0852
E: thomas,collins@bipe.com
E: anthony.andrisano{@bipe.com
Attorneys for Philadelphia Union

Dated: December 23, 2014
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/s/ Thomas G. Collins
Thomas G. Collins, Esquire
Attorneys for Respondent/
Counterclaim Claimant

Date: December 23, 2014




